# MARINE RESERVES AND OCEAN NEIGHBORHOODS: The Spatial Scale of Marine Populations and Their Management

Stephen R. Palumbi

Department of Biological Sciences, Stanford University, Hopkins Marine Station, Pacific Grove, California 93950; email: spalumbi@stanford.edu

■ Abstract The movement of individuals defines a spatial neighborhood that can help determine marine management strategies. Here, I briefly review four fields of marine biology that each differentially illuminate the scale of marine neighborhoods: effects of marine reserves, tagging studies, microchemistry, and population genetics. These suggest adult neighborhood sizes for many demersal fish and invertebrates as small as kilometers and up to 10 to 100 km. Larval dispersal may be shorter than previously suspected: neighborhood sizes of 10 to 100 km for invertebrates and 50 to 200 km for fish are common in current compilations.

How can small reserves protect such species? One conceptual framework is to set reserve size based on adult neighborhood sizes of highly fished species and determine spacing of a reserve network based on larval neighborhoods. The multispecies nature of fisheries demands that network designs accommodate different life histories and take into account the way local human communities use marine resources.

#### CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	31
RESULTS FROM MARINE RESERVE PROTECTION	33
MARINE RESERVES AS EXPERIMENTS IN OCEAN	
NEIGHBORHOODS	36
THE SPILLOVER CLOUD	39
TAGGING STUDIES OF ADULT MOVEMENT	43
CHEMICAL TAGS OF MOVEMENT IN OTOLITHS AND	
STATOLITHS	48
POPULATION GENETICS AND MEASURING DISPERSAL	53
WHAT DO SUCH DIFFERENT TYPES OF DATA TELL US?	56
NEIGHBORHOODS AND MANAGEMENT	58
CONCLUSIONS	60

## INTRODUCTION

Effective management of marine ecosystems—either for fisheries or for conservation—must match the population biology and dispersal ability of target species. Many commercially exploited fin fish, echinoderms, mollusks, and crustacea consist of populations of relatively sedentary adults spread across huge geographic ranges connected by larval dispersal. Other species, such as whales, tunas, and squid, have highly migratory adults that range over large distances. As a consequence of these life strategies, management approaches for commercial marine species typically emphasize control of fishing effort over large geographic scales.

Recently, a much smaller scale approach to marine environmental management has been suggested. Marine Protected Areas (MPAs), zones in which fisheries exploitation is spatially limited, have been used to protect critical habitats, such as spawning sites and nursery grounds. Fully protected MPAs, also called Marine Reserves, have been established to protect all the species of a marine ecosystem, and this has resulted in strong increases in biomass and density of species that are otherwise heavily exploited.

Most marine reserves are small—typically less than 1 km<sup>2</sup>—yet many species with seemingly high dispersal respond to protection in reserves. Does this mean that most species have only small scale population movement? Or does an MPA protect only the subset of species that happens to have the right scale of dispersal for that particular MPA? Though there is no doubt that marine population movements can be wide over evolutionary time frames, the generation-to-generation range of dispersal for most marine species is poorly known. As a result, matching the spatial scale of management with the scale of dispersal is difficult, and our understanding the role of MPAs in ecosystem protection is incomplete.

Sewell Wright (1) suggested a framework for measuring and interpreting the scale of population spread by exploring the influence of neighborhood size on the geography of genetic differentiation. He defined a neighborhood, statistically, as the variance in dispersal distances from offspring to their parents. Although useful mathematically and heuristically, such formulations are unlikely to be strictly useful in marine systems. There are few situations in which offspring and parents can be tracked accurately (the best known exceptions may be benthic colonial ascidians and whales), and marine species differ widely in the distances that individuals move at various life stages.

Because of these complexities, neighborhoods for marine species must be defined differently. Here I use a general definition of neighborhoods as the area centered on a set of parents that is large enough to retain most of the offspring of those parents. If adults move widely, neighborhoods are large and diffuse. If adults are sessile and larvae are restricted in their dispersal, then a neighborhood might be small and distinct. Other species with sedentary adults and highly dispersed larvae may have large neighborhoods if long-distance dispersal is common or small neighborhoods if long-distance larval dispersal is rare.

The scale of ocean neighborhoods is fundamental to understanding how marine species make use of the seascape and is therefore fundamental to future management. Once known, the scale of ocean neighborhoods may be uniquely valuable. Species with vast ocean neighborhoods may require the type of large-scale management that is the hallmark of current fisheries. But for species in which ocean neighborhoods are small, then smaller-scale management in marine parks or reserves may be more appropriate. There are also species for which adult neighborhoods are probably small but larval neighborhoods are large. These species may require different types of spatial management, such as networks of marine reserves.

Although it is possible to immediately think of many practical difficulties in accurately measuring ocean neighborhood sizes, our current ignorance of the scale of marine dispersal from generation to generation of most species is so profound that we have little idea of even the order of magnitude of dispersal. Do most successful marine larvae drift 10 km,100 km, or 1000 km before settling to their adult phase? Recently collected data from a variety of studies suggest the range of movements of adults and offspring in the sea. Small-scale marine reserves can be viewed as experiments in the functional application of spatial management to species over small spatial scales, we can simultaneously gauge the importance of reserves and show which species have neighborhoods of the right size for particular sizes of reserves.

Other data are accumulating that also address the fundamental question of neighborhood size for different species. Tagging studies seem to relate most directly to efforts to define movement patterns of adults. These studies can distinguish species with highly vagile adults from those with sessile adults, but the results are very difficult to apply to larvae. Larval patterns of movement instead derive from data on the genetics of marine populations, from tracking invasive species, and on new information about chemical tags of fish otoliths and invertebrate statoliths.

Both the use of marine reserves to bolster coastal management and the measurement of ocean neighborhoods are in their infancy. However, progress on both these fronts encourages development of approaches that try to estimate the scale of population spread in marine species and incorporate this information into placebased management schemes. In this review, I highlight advances in marine reserve implementation and interpretation and place them in a framework that shows how scales of population spread and scales of marine management might be melded.

#### **RESULTS FROM MARINE RESERVE PROTECTION**

Fully protected marine reserves have been shown to generally produce striking increases in biomass of species that are heavily fished outside reserve boundaries (2, 3). Significant increases in population density and species diversity are also commonly reported. Overall, fish biomass increased 100% to 800% across 56 peer-reviewed published surveys of the effectiveness of reserves (4) based on data in Halpern (5). (Figure 1*A*,*B*). Among these 56 studies, density increases averaged between 60% and 150% across a wide range of countries in North America, in the tropical Pacific, and Africa. Lower values (increases of 20% to 35%) have been reported for the Mediterranean and the temperate South Pacific (Figure 1*B*). When



**Figure 1** Increase in (*left*) biomass and (*right*) density of fish inside marine reserves from different parts of the world. Data are from studies summarized by Halpern (5) that were published in peer-reviewed journals.

multiple factors that might affect fish assemblages are examined, the presence of no-take reserves often outstrips other tested environmental effects, such as wave exposure, depth, or habitat complexity (6–8).

These broad compilations tend to average over multiple species and run the risk of obscuring declines in some species if other species increase markedly. However, some studies report results for individual species, and in these cases, patterns of response to protection are similar to those above. For example, on protected reefs in Belize, 16 of 30 species increased after protection compared to control reefs, whereas none decreased on these reefs (7). An earlier study in Belize showed 11 of 47 fish species had higher abundances inside areas with restricted fishing (3). In one of the first studies of reserve impacts, Bell (8) showed significant increases in 11 of 35 observed fish species and declines in a single species. Of eight fish families studied by McClanahan & Arthur (7) on protected reefs in eastern Africa, five showed significant increases in density, and seven showed significant increases in diversity. Few studies have examined a large number of invertebrate species inside reserves—typically such research emphasizes a few target species, such as limpets, lobsters, or abalone (9-11). However, in one study of 30 reef gastropods abundant enough for statistical analysis, McClanahan (12) showed increases of abundance in nine species and declines in three.

Despite overall increases in biomass, and despite increases in a larger number of species than decreases, some species in nearly every study do not benefit from a given reserve. In particular, species that are not exploited tend not to increase (13, 14). Such species actually serve as an additional control for the treatment effect of reserve protection. If, for example, reserves had larger biomass than control sites because they were all chosen in areas of high productivity, then we would expect nonexploited species to be higher inside than outside reserves. The generally poor response of nonexploited species suggests strongly that it is the protection from fishing that generates the strong differences between reserve and control sites—not some other invisible variable. This is important because studies of reserves do not generally have the same kind of rigorous before-and-after controls that carefully designed ecological experiments tend to include.

Species in different trophic groups also tend to respond differently to reserves. In a major metaanalysis of 20 studies of reserve effects, Micheli et al. (13) show that omnivores and detritivores respond poorly, if at all, to reserve protection. By contrast, species that consume algae, invertebrates, or plankton have moderate response. The strongest response comes from predatory fish, which nearly doubled in abundance across the 20 studies. These differences may be affected by fishing pressure. Predatory fishes, such as rockfish, groupers, and snappers, tend to be highly prized fishing targets and thus tend to respond to reserves because they are no longer heavily fished. Detritivores and herbivores may be less often fished and less likely to need protection. However, a second reason for the differences in response to reserves is that a higher abundance of predators may consume more prey, and if these prey are smaller species, then the middle trophic levels occupied by these smaller species may decline rather than increase. A strong example of this is the decline of sea urchins after creation of marine reserves in New Zealand (10). Experiments have shown that this decline results from an increased abundance of predatory lobsters inside reserves, which consume sea urchins and subsequently allow greater growth of kelp (15).

Micheli et al. (13) also show that there is a shift toward larger-sized individuals inside reserves. This trend is seen in most studies of reserve impact—the size of fish or invertebrates tends to increase markedly when protected from exploitation. Such protection is evident in areas heavily used by commercial as well as recreational fishermen. In the Hopkins Marine Life Refuge in central California, two species of rockfish caught almost exclusively by recreational fishing are larger inside the reserve than outside (16). Likewise, it is difficult to find a legal-sized rockfish or lingcod outside of the no-take reserves at the Edmunds Underwater Park in Puget Sound, Washington (17).

The larger size of individuals in reserves produces two of the most commonly cited benefits of reserve protection: increased biomass of fish and increased reproductive capacity (18). Reproductive capacity is particularly important because it tends to increase exponentially with adult size. Because biomass inside reserves is increased, and because this increase results from a larger proportion of larger fish, benefits of reserves for reproduction can be substantial. For example, a red snapper 62 cm long produces the same number of eggs as 212 individuals 41 cm long. Such huge differences can result in large increases in reproductive potential. Bohnsack (19) calculated that snappers inside tropical reef reserves produced

12 times more eggs than those outside. Likewise, ling cod in the Edmunds Underwater Park in the Puget Sound produce 20 times more eggs per hectare than do ling cod outside the reserve (17), implying that a reserve system encompassing 5% of the subtidal area would effectively double egg production. Manriquez & Castilla (11) showed a 1000-fold increase in egg production inside reserves for a heavily exploited Chilean limpet.

Unfortunately, there have been few demonstrations of the direct benefit of these increases in potential egg production to local reserves or to the number of larvae available to recruit into marine populations. Stoner & Ray (20) showed that the number of larvae of the heavily fished Queen conch was much higher inside a reserve in the Bahamas than elsewhere. Murawski et al. (21) reported increases in settlement of offshore scallops after adult populations increased inside trawlerexclusion zones near Cape Cod. An experiment by Tegner (22) in which local populations of abalone were experimentally increased by transplantation gave mixed results. There were some observations of increased local settlement, but in other areas, no such increase occurred before poaching reduced adult numbers. That there are few other examples may be because present-day reserves are so small that they contribute only a tiny fraction of the larvae available in a typical marine population. Alternatively, the extra larvae produced in some reserves may be lost to the overall population (e.g., by being swept offshore). Stock recruitment relationships in marine species are notoriously variable, and it may take longterm observations of recruitment in and near large reserves to confirm the general assumption that reserves will increase available settlers.

Increased fish populations have been noted within a few years of reserve implementation (23), and most reserves studied have generated substantial increases in fished species within five years of protection when the targeted species are short lived and fast growing (24). However, longer-term protection can lead to incremental increases in biomass and density (7, 25, 26). Especially for long-lived species, protection over the course of a full generation, which may require 20 to 50 years, may produce increasing benefits (7). Micheli et al. (13) show that this trend is strongest in predatory fish. Protection for 10 years or more resulted in a far greater increase in abundance compared to reserves that had been in existence for 10 years or less (13).

# MARINE RESERVES AS EXPERIMENTS IN OCEAN NEIGHBORHOODS

The hallmark of marine reserve management is that resources are protected spatially. Individuals within the borders of the reserve are protected, and individuals outside are not. If all marine populations are highly vagile, then small marine reserves are not expected to have substantial impact (26). However, many marine invertebrates are sessile or sedentary, such as corals or sea urchins, respectively, and many adult fish appear to have small home ranges. As a result, small marine reserves have the potential to reduce fishing mortality in local populations—but only for those species whose neighborhood size is appropriate.

Simple mathematical models of marine reserves show that in order for the protection afforded within a reserve to create the optimal increase in population, the neighborhood size of a species should be less than about twice the size of the reserve (27, 28). Species with adult home ranges larger than a reserve's size will be protected for only part of the time. Furthermore, if the implementation of a reserve increases fishing pressure outside reserve boundaries, then a species that spends only part of its time in a reserve may have higher fishing mortality outside the reserve than before. In these cases, reserves may not afford much overall protection. If fishing effort is not displaced, then the impact of reserves on highly migratory species is similar to the effect of decreasing fishing effort by the same percentage as the percent area dedicated to reserves (29).

Highly migratory pelagic fish in general are thought not to respond well to reserves unless the size of the reserve is large. Of nine exploited pelagic species studied inside and outside reserves [reviewed by Micheli et al. (13)], only three showed substantial increases after reserve protection. By contrast, about 75% of nonpelagic species show increases inside reserves. Few reserves larger than 150 km<sup>2</sup> exist (5), and so far it has been impossible to document the size of reserve needed to protect highly migratory species. However, several such species have benefited from MPAs, such as in the large regions near Cape Cod, Massachusetts, that are closed to cod fishing. Over these areas, free-ranging fish seem to respond to protection and have nearly doubled in density in the 10 years since protection began.

If the poor response of pelagic fish to small reserves is the result of their high mobility, then what lessons are available from the large list of species that do respond well to protection in reserves? DeMartini (26) showed that the movement patterns of fish and invertebrates had a theoretical relationship to the ability of reserves to affect population size. The reduction in rate of fishing mortality that an individual experiences is related directly to the amount of time it spends in a reserve. For highly mobile fish, whose adult movements take them in and out of protected areas, this fraction is the same as the total fraction of a marine ecosystem that is protected by reserves. For most areas, this fraction is small—for example, the reserve system in the Florida Keys National Marine Sanctuary covers less than 1% of the sanctuary area. In such cases, highly mobile fish are unlikely to benefit from reserves. The small Caribbean island nation of St. Lucia has reserves in about 1/3 of the area along an 11-km stretch of reef, and in this case, it is possible that fish with neighborhood sizes of 11-km or less receive substantial protection. Fish with neighborhoods of several 100 km are much less likely to benefit. Roberts et al. (18) showed that fish densities outside reserves were higher after reserve protection than they were before, and they attributed this increase to the movement of fish from protected to unprotected areas. The species contributing most to the density increase outside tend to be in moderately mobile families (18).

For less mobile species, populations will increase inside reserves if the addition of new juveniles to the protected population is faster than the movement of adults from inside to outside the reserve boundaries. Thus, response to reserve protection is not merely scaled to adult movement; it is scaled to recruitment as well. As a result, species with low adult movement may show little reserve effect if their recruitment is low. A possible example may be the poor performance of fisheries in Jamaica, where reef overfishing has been so extreme that there are few adults left to provide recruits, and the buildup of fish populations is extremely slow (30). In such cases, only highly sedentary species may likely show a reserve response.

By contrast, even species with high adult movement may show a reserve increase if recruitment to reserve settings is high enough to balance loss. The variable reserve response of species with different recruitment strengths is poorly studied, but the possibility exists that recruitment levels and response to reserve protection are generally linked.

Additional traits that determine response to reserve protection may be difficult to discern for many fish species. Biological features beside the overall movement patterns may also be important determinants of impact. Micheli et al. (13) classified 544 species from 20 studies by level of mobility and response to reserve protection. Once pelagic species are removed, the proportion of species with low, medium, or high levels of movement are about the same among species that decrease in reserves compared to those that increase (Figure 2). In particular, the list of declining species is not dominated by those with high mobility, and the list of increasing species is not dominated by species with low mobility. The failure to see the predicted relationship between estimated mobility and reserve response suggests that our view of the important life history features of benthic fish is not yet complete enough to allow good prediction of which ones will respond to protection. Another possibility is that response to reserves is a combination of features of both the



**Figure 2** Number of species from different mobility classes for fish that increase inside marine reserves compared to those that decrease. From Micheli et al. (13).

targeted species and how humans use marine resources. For example, exploitation is generally higher for more mobile species (F. Micheli, personal communication), yet these are less likely to show a distinct reserve effect unless exploitation is very high and recruitment is consistent. Species with low movements, especially small reef fish such as butterflyfish and damselfish, may potentially show strong reserve effects. But because they are exploited only in severely overfished habitats, they will tend not to show a reserve effect except in extreme situations. Chapman & Kramer (31) estimated the effects of reserves on species of different potential mobilities. They concluded that low dispersal species did not show enhanced density or size in a reserve in Barbados.

## THE SPILLOVER CLOUD

More poorly understood is the extent to which animals protected inside reserves move outside reserve boundaries and then enter local fisheries. This spillover effect is one of the key fisheries benefits of reserves, but this benefit has been well documented only a few times to date (18, 32, 33). From the standpoint of marine neighborhoods, measuring the spatial scale of spillover effects might tell us a great deal about how far populations tend to spread and the spatial scale of larval movement. Because the populations inside reserves are higher than outside, and because they potentially produce a large number of eggs and larvae, the existence of a successful reserve can be used as an experimental point source for tracking adult and larval movement, and thus it can provide a biological probe of neighborhood size. Unfortunately, current reserves are so small that larval clouds tend to be tiny, and most adult movement outside of reserves is monitored by the migration of fishing effort at reserve edges. As a result, we have little information about neighborhoods from these sources. However, a few preliminary data sets are available.

McClanahan & Mangi (32) monitored fish catch from the edge of a marine reserve in Kenya toward fished areas. Mass, size, and diversity of species dropped precipitously away from the reserve boundary. Higher fish abundance penetrates about 1 to 2 km into the fished areas on the south side of the reserve but only about 500 m on the north side. This difference may result from the prevalence of seine nets on the north side, suggesting the penetration of higher fish abundance depends on the intensity of fishing effort. If true, the extent of the spillover cloud can not be completely measured unless fishing is negligible, and if fishing is negligible, there will be no reserve effects and no spillover. In addition, the spillover effect appears variable across fish families even when mobility is similar. Rabbitfish, surgeonfish, and emperors decline significantly with distance from the African reserves, whereas goatfish, groupers, parrotfish, and snappers do not (32). Most of these families tend to be dominated by species with moderate to high rates of adult movement, and the differences in spillover pattern do not seem related simply to exploitation.

On Apo Island in the Philippines, Russ & Alcala have monitored the success of a small reserve since 1983 (34). Within a year or two of protection, large predatory fish showed a substantial increase in abundance within the reserve (35). Abundance of these species outside the reserve also increased, and 10–12 years after protection, mean adult density had increased severalfold (25, 34). Control sites that are 200–300 m from the reserve boundary showed nearly a 10-fold increase, whereas sites that are 400–500 m showed only about 50% increase. As in the case of Kenyan reefs, these data suggest that substantial spillover occurs over small distances.

Spillover from the set of marine reserves on the Caribbean island of St. Lucia has been suggested to have increased local fishing severalfold since the inception of the reserve system in 1995 (18). Along 11 km of coast, 4 to 5 reserves are interspersed with fished areas, and so the distance between fished areas and reserves is about 1 to 2 km. Spillover seems highest for moderately mobile fish families, such as parrotfish and grunts, groups that also showed movement across reserve boundaries during tagging studies (36).

Spillover from a reserve in Fiji derives from the movement of larvae. These reserves were established to allow regrowth of populations of clams (genus *Anadara*), which are heavily fished. Adult densities of clams are 14- to 18-fold higher in the locally managed Marine Area Network at the village of Uncunivanua, Fiji (37). Outside the area, within about a kilometer, densities of small postsettlement clams have increased about fivefold [see Tawake et al. in Gell & Roberts (38); Figure 3].



**Figure 3** The number of clams (genus *Anadara*) outside marine reserves in Fiji in 1997 when the reserves were established and in 2000. Clams in fished areas outside of the reserves show an increase in postsettlement juveniles, probably as a result of spillover of larvae from large numbers of large adults inside adjacent reserve areas [redrawn from Tawake et al. (38)].

Because the adults are sedentary and the larvae are planktonic, this increase must be caused by export of larvae from the reserves. Other communities in Fiji have seen similar increases both inside and outside reserves. Although information about the magnitude of the larval spillover effect is available, the geographic scale of the effect is poorly known. Fished areas are interspersed with reserve zones, and measurements tend to compare fished and unfished populations over only small spatial scales. The shape and size of the larval cloud emanating from the reserves in Fiji is currently unknown, but this example suggests that it is now possible to use reserves as experimental sources of larvae to allow such measurements.

Similarly, Stoner & Ray (20) showed patterns of larval abundance for the commercially important Queen conch, *Strombus gigas*; these findings suggest spillover from a marine reserve in the Bahamas. Adults were 5–20 more numerous in the reserve compared to fished areas, and densities of early stage larvae were about 15 times greater. Offshore sampling about 1 to 2 km away from the reserve or fished areas showed approximately a 12-fold increase in abundance of larvae near the reserve, suggesting that larvae from the reserve were having an impact on larval abundance outside the reserve. However, the geographic extent of sampling was not high enough to show definitively that increased numbers of larvae are derived from reserve areas. As in the case of Fijian clams, no data showing the shape of the decline in larval abundance with distance from the reserve are available.

Larger-scale larval spillover has been reported for scallops in fishing closures on the Georges Bank in the Gulf of Maine. Since 1994, scallop (*Placopecten magellanicus*) densities have increased markedly in a series of zones closed to bottom trawling. Larger adults are available inside the trawl-free zone than outside. Though scallop fishing is now allowed in some of these previously closed areas, fishing has also intensified around the edges of zones that remain closed (21, 39). If this increased fishing effort is the result of spillover, then the geographic scale of spillover is at least 10 to 20 miles. Patterns of local current flow may dramatically affect the movement of larvae coming from protected populations, and it may be that oceanographic conditions on the Georges Bank favor larval retention near closed areas.

Though not derived from reserves, spillover clouds from marine restoration projects may provide some insight about neighborhoods. Peterson et al. (40) transplanted adult bay scallops (*Argopecten irradians*) into areas in North Carolina that had their previous populations destroyed by red tides. These restored populations sustained 10-fold increases in adult densities in a few transplant areas. Larval settlement and juvenile growth were also far higher near these restored populations than elsewhere in the region. Overall, larval settlement increased more than fivefold, but this increase was very local. One larval monitoring site within 2 to 5 km of several transplant areas (Emerald Island) showed large increases in settlement. A second site about 5 km from the closest transplant area showed no increase (40). Patterns of tidal inflow and outflow in the complex bay and estuary systems of North Carolina may constrain movement of larvae, and complicate patterns of larval dispersal. However, the clear increase in settlement after adult population

restoration suggests that larval clouds can remain near adult populations and that local increases in adult densities can have a positive impact on recruitment to the next generation.

Few other clear examples of spillover clouds from reserves or restoration projects exist (41), possibly because reserves tend to be small and tend to have only a small effect on numbers of adults or larvae produced. In addition, data sets that suggest a spillover effect must be collected and analyzed carefully. For example, in St. Lucia, spillover was suggested by data that showed an increase in fish biomass outside reserves (18). However, there was no control for this experiment, and it is difficult to completely eliminate the possibility that fish biomass increased for reasons other than spillover. In such cases, monitoring biomass in a series of locations increasingly distant from reserve boundaries is an important component of an experimental design. Such studies of reserve spillover are becoming more common (23, 34). In the absence of such geographic sampling, the conclusion that spillover is occurring rests on the tacit assumption that no other changes have occurred that could significantly increase fish and invertebrate biomass. In the case of spillover of scallops from Cape Cod fishing closures, Murawski et al. (21) have pointed out that there were many changes in fishing regulations that could have increased scallop density outside reserves independently of a spillover effect. In the case of the St. Lucia reserves, no other fishing regulations were changed during the time of the study, and fishing elsewhere in the Caribbean was steadily declining (J. Hawkins personal communication) while fishing success in St. Lucia was increasing (18).

There are some cases in which spillover has been carefully investigated and is absent. Tewfik & Bene (42) showed that spillover of adult Queen conch from a protected area in the Turks and Caicos Islands is prevented by habitat barriers that surround the reserve. Similarly, a coral reef reserve in Barbados surrounded by sand patches 100s of meters wide shows little spillover (43). In other cases, some species showed spillover, but others did not. Spiny lobster in New Zealand (44) did not show a distinct spillover effect despite the fact that individuals are larger and more abundant in reserves (45). Long-distance movement of reproductively mature adults out of reserves may account for lack of spillover into adjacent habitats. In most cases, spillover from reserves is species specific: Although some species may move outside of reserves, others do not (46–48).

Because one quarter of the species inside a given reserve are not likely to show a reserve effect (13), and because only a fraction of the remaining three quarters of the species will have movement patterns appropriate to produce a spillover cloud (48, 49), it is perhaps not surprising that spillover is not universal. Spillover results that report summations of all species tend to show stronger positive effects than those that seek to understand patterns for just a few target species. Thus, it may be possible to document an overall spillover pattern across many target species without being able to pinpoint the way spillover is occurring for any single species. Such cases demand study of larger reserves but also suggest that statistical power of spillover investigations be carefully analyzed. These problems have suggested the need for a different approach to understanding reserves, spillover, and the neighborhood size of fished species. As a result, the past few years has seen a marked increase in detailed studies of fish and invertebrate movement in natural and reserve settings. These studies complement investigations of biomass spillover and provide a very different view of the impact of reserves on fish and invertebrate populations.

#### TAGGING STUDIES OF ADULT MOVEMENT

Fish and invertebrates have been marked with a variety of methods that range from high-technology satellite transponders to low-technology colored thread (50). Physical tags are common for fish, crustacea, and mollusks (51), and range from coded archives that record environmental conditions after tagging to simple injected elastomer or tissue dyes that merely individualize an organism's appearance so that it can be recognized. More sophisticated devices record environmental variables while they are attached to an animal. Upon retrieval, these recorders can be read to estimate the geographic position of the tag while the host animal travels (52–56). Pop-up tags release themselves from the animal they were originally attached to and transmit geographic data via a satellite (57). Real-time data on geographic location have been gathered from triangulating audio receivers that pinpoint an individual's position or by detecting the sound of a unique sonic tag (58). Although this is not an exhaustive review of tagging approaches, I examined existing data from tagging studies to provide insight about movement patterns and adult neighborhood sizes.

There are few multispecies studies of movement based on tags. One longterm program has been the tagging of large pelagic billfish by recreational and commercial fishermen (59). Returns from 317,000 tagged animals over 50 years have established broad movement patterns and show that these large predators are truly ocean citizens. Moving over 1600 km in less than 6 months is a common result for black, blue, and white marlin, whereas sailfish and striped marlin tend to be found within 1000 km of their tagging site (59, 60).

Some fish are caught within 200 km of their release site even years after being tagged (59). However, proximity of release and capture sites may not necessarily translate to low rates of movement. For example, Takahashi et al. (61) fitted a swordfish with an archival tag off the eastern coast of Japan and recaptured the same animal 103 km away a year later. Archival tags collect data on environmental variables, such as temperature and day length. The combination of day length and date allows an estimate of latitude, and comparison of temperature data at that latitude with oceanic atlases allows an estimation of the longitude as well. Analysis of the archival data showed the fish tagged by Takahashi et al. (61) did not stay close to the tagging site but instead traveled 1000s of km to subtropical waters along the coast of New Zealand and then back to Japan. By contrast, bigeye tuna near Hawaii showed high levels of site fidelity, even using geolocation tags that record movements precisely (53).

Data on blue fin tuna show consistent seasonal returns to spawning grounds and a distribution among feeding grounds separated by 1000s of km (54, 56, 57, 62). Individuals in the Atlantic that are tagged off the coast of North America may spend several seasons in the western Atlantic, but then they move into the Mediterranean, possibly to spawn. Other individuals spawn in the Gulf of Mexico. A key insight of these data is that tuna move between eastern and western Atlantic stocks, suggesting that these management units are not a valid reflection of the basic biology of this species (11–14). Reconciling traditional delineations of stock structure with these new data is an important feature of future management.

It comes as no surprise that large pelagic fish in fact swim great distances and have ocean-scale neighborhoods (52). However, smaller pelagic fish may show more restricted movement. King George whiting (*Sillaginodes punctata*) showed movement patterns of up to 200 km, but even this level of movement seemed related to age. Younger fish did not travel far and tended to move long distances only when shifting habitats from shallow sea grass–dominated areas to deeper waters (63). Kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*) were recaptured typically within 50 km of point of tagging (64). Mackerel show a variety of movement patterns. School mackerel (*Scomberomorus queenslandicus*) moved small distances from their release point, on average 26 km (65). By contrast, the same study reported spotted mackerel (*Scomberomorus munroi*) moved 202 km on average.

Bottom-dwelling fish have less certain movement patterns, and even those that live in deep water can show remarkable site fidelity. Atlantic cod have been tracked by acoustic telemetry and show a complex pattern of seasonal migration. Acoustic tags emit an individually unique sound that can be monitored by a series of underwater receivers. By triangulating the directional signal collected by each receiver, the position of each tag can be estimated with great accuracy. Cod tagged off the Atlantic coast of Canada showed wide-ranging movements that took them to northern waters in two separate migrations (66). Fish overwintered in deep water but returned to coastal areas in spring. Some migrations were as short as 50 to 60 km, whereas others were over 200 km (66). Similarly, lingcod (*Ophiodon elongates*) in the northwest United States are resident in fairly small areas during part of the year but move seasonally to spawn (67). Red snappers in the Gulf of Mexico (*Lutjanus campechanus*) moved on average 29 km after an average 404 days at liberty before recapture (68), although hurricanes increase rates of movement considerably.

In the South African red steenbras (*Petrus rupetris*), tagging studies within the Tsitsikamma Marine Park have shown highly sedentary behavior of juveniles until about 70 cm length (Figure 4). Larger fish migrate 100s of km to the northeast, where they become resident and enter the fishery (69). Such ontogenetic shifts in mobility are a feature of many species (70–72). For example, deepwater Patagonian toothfish (*Dissostichus eleginoides*) have been tagged on fisheries' grounds and largely recaptured within about 25 km of their release point (73). One could interpret this to be a result of intense fishing that may make it more likely that a fish tagged on one fishing ground will be subsequently caught on the same ground. An alternative explanation suggests ontogenetic shift in mobility: These fish, similar to red steenbras, may be sedentary as juveniles on the banks that are heavily fished,



**Figure 4** Ontogenetic changes in fish movement. Tag recoveries of red steenbras *Petrus rupestris* show low movement rates of juveniles. At the onset of sexual maturity, individuals migrate to adult habitats 500 km to the north. Redrawn from Brouwer (69).

but they may shift to a more mobile phase and thereafter become unavailable to the fishery.

Many benthic fish have been shown to be more sedentary as juveniles than adults (70–72). Yet, even adults can have remarkable small home ranges. Snappers in subtropical or temperate areas can have home ranges as small as a few 100 meters (74). The coral trout (*Plectropomus leopardus*) moved on average only about 2 km on Australian reefs. On temperate reefs amid kelp beds, three species of fish (*Chromis punctipinnis, Oxyjulis californica, Paralabrax clathratus*) showed no movement between adjacent but separated reefs (75). Perhaps the record for site fidelity goes to cardinalfishes, which over the course of more than a year consistently returned to within 1 m of their initially observed daytime resting positions (76).

Tagging studies of deepwater fish have been limited but Starr et al. (58) recorded movement patterns of two eastern Pacific rockfish using acoustic receivers deployed at about 100 m depth. Among greenspotted rockfish (*Sebastes chlorostic-tus*), 5 of 6 spent more than half their time within range of receivers dispersed over about 2 km. Among bocaccio (*Sebastes paucispinus*), 10 of 16 fish spent over 95% of their time within range of 5 receivers scattered along about 5 km of seafloor (Figure 5). However, in both species, some individuals moved outside of receiver detection, and in bocaccio, daily changes in depth caused animals to move short distances in areas of high vertical relief but move longer distances where the topography was more gentle (58).

Conclusions from these recapture surveys are limited. That some fish move more than others is no surprise. More detailed comparisons among species are hampered by vast differences in sampling effort between studies and by the largely descriptive nature of many tagging efforts. In addition, short-term movement patterns of an individual species tells us little about long-term residency. It is the combination of movement and timing that is likely to provide the most insight to neighborhood



Figure 5 The geographic arrangement of acoustic sensors used by Starr et al. (58) to monitor movement of bocaccio (*Sebastes paucispinus*) on deep reefs off the coast of California. Most fish spent the majority of their time wholly within range of one of the sensors.

sizes. In this regard, data sets that show the relationship between time at liberty and overall movement are particularly useful (59, 68). From such plots, it might be possible to discern the area across which individuals tend to range over the course of a defined time period, such as a year. Nevertheless emerging patterns include the tendency of large pelagic fish to travel 100s to 1000s of km, and the tendency of smaller pelagics to have ranges more limited to 10s to 100s of km. Larger bottom-dwelling fish show movement patterns up to 100s of km, but some reef-associated species have home neighborhoods in the 10 km range. Finally, some benthic dwellers have such high site fidelity that they can be predictably found in an area for months to years (Table 1).

Across habitats, movement patterns seem to become larger from reefs to open bottom habitats to pelagics. Within habitats, movement tends to become more frequent with larger size, but such generalizations require larger comparative data sets than are usually available. For example, Kramer & Chapman (49) tagged a large number of species on reefs in Barbados and monitored resightings over time. On the basis of these data and a summary from the literature, they showed an exponential relationship between body size and movement pattern. In coral reef habitats, species with larger body size tend to have larger home ranges (Figure 6); species under 10 cm tended to have home ranges of 10 m or less.

In addition, Micheli et al. (13) documented a tendency of larger fish species to respond more positively to reserve protection—probably because they are more heavily exploited than smaller species and therefore show larger increases from even a low amount of protection inside reserves. The combination of these two trends is a pattern that seems counterintuitive: Species with greater tendency Annu. Rev. Environ. Resourc. 2004.29:31-68. Downloaded from arjournals.annualreviews.org by Stanford University Libraries on 10/24/05. For personal use only.

Fishery recovery Fishrey recovery Fishery recovery **Fag resighting** Tag resighting **Tag resighting** Tag resighting Archival tags Evidence Acoustic Acoustic 500-2000 km 500-2000 km 3-5000 km 50-200 km 2000 km 200 km 202 km 29 km 100 m  $50 \,\mathrm{km}$ 26 km 500 m 15 nm ~1 m Scale 2 km 5 ha Northeast Atlantic Great Barrier Reef Great Barrier Reef Gulf of Mexico New Zealand Deep shelves Kelp beds Kelp beds Australia Australia Habitat Atlantic Pacific Global Global Dissostichus eleginoides Plectropomus leopardus Scomberomorus munroi Istiophorus platypterus Lutjanus campechanus Sillaginodes punctata Makaira nigricanus Phycodurus eques queenslandicus Parapercis colias Thunnus thynnus Scomberomorus Pagrus auratus Makaira indica Gadus morhua Seriola lalandi Three species Small to medium pelagic King George whiting Patagonian toothfish Yellowtail kingfish Leafy sea dragons Benthic or demersal Spotted mackerel School mackerel Cardinalfishes Black marlin Blue fin tuna Red snapper Atlantic cod Blue marlin Large pelagic Coral trout Blue cod Snapper Sailfish Species

Some distances moved during tagging studies of benthic and pelagic fish **FABLE 1** 

47



**Figure 6** Relationship between home range size (or range of diel migration) and body size for coral reef fish. Data replotted from Appendix 1 of Kramer & Chapman (49).

to move outside reserves show a greater degree of reserve protection (Figure 7). Just the opposite prediction has usually been made: Sedentary species should be protected more completely (3, 26, 43). The emerging data, however, suggest that a combination of mobility, local fishing pressure, and reserve attributes are all critically important in determining response of a species to protection. Such complexities are very important to fold into expectations of the performance of marine reserves.

Other generalizations include the common observation that movement patterns shift over time in many species. Sometimes this seems associated with a shift from juvenile to adult phases (Figure 4). Other times, movement seems associated with seasonal migration of adults to spawning areas. In both cases, it becomes clear that a simple division of marine habitat use patterns into larval neighborhoods and adult neighborhoods is too simple.

# CHEMICAL TAGS OF MOVEMENT IN OTOLITHS AND STATOLITHS

Tagging fish or invertebrates is generally limited to adults or larger juveniles, yet information about movements of smaller individuals is extremely valuable. Tags of larvae would be particularly useful in determining dispersal patterns (77).



**Figure 7** Response to reserve protection is higher in species with larger home range sizes. This counterintuitive pattern probably results from lower levels of exploitation in smaller fish that have low home range sizes (see Figure 6). Response is measured as the natural log of the ratio of abundance inside versus outside reserves [drawn from data in Micheli et al. (13)]. Home range sizes for these species were measured from movement patterns of tagged fish and are listed in Kramer & Chapman (49). All species are tropical reef fish, most of them from the Caribbean.

Movement of juveniles from nursery to adult habitats could be key to determining patterns of ecosystem use (78). To advance these capabilities, attention is increasingly focusing on the measurement of chemical signatures in calcified structures of fish and invertebrates. The tissues that form these structures incorporate elements such as barium, strontium, manganese, and magnesium into the calcium carbonate framework. Levels of incorporation vary with environmental availability of these various elements in sea water, and variation in the elemental signature can sometimes distinguish individuals that have lived in different water masses [see Campana (79) for review].

Most research focuses on the use of fish otolith microchemistry to identify distinct stocks of coastal fish (79–86). The simplest use of this technology is to completely dissolve the fish otolith (a small calcareous inclusion in fish ears) and measure the elemental signature in the resulting fluid. Such studies have shown that adult fish living in different estuaries or bays can have very different otolith signatures (82, 85, 87–92). For example, otolith chemistries (based on stable isotopes) inside hypersaline Shark Bay in western Australia are very distinctive compared to those from normal oceanic conditions. Individual pink snapper (*Pagrus aura-tus*) inside Shark Bay showed no sign of normal, oceanic otolith chemistries, and

populations outside the bay never showed otolith chemistries characteristic of inside the bay. As a result, Edmonds et al. (90) concluded that adult pink snapper rarely moved and spent most of their lives either fully inside or outside Shark Bay (92). By contrast, the bluefish *Pomatomus saltatrix* showed individuals with both oceanic and bay signatures, and Edmonds et al. concluded they were more mobile. Similarly, Campana et al. (85) showed that otoliths of cod (*Gadus morhua*) differed between the southern and northern portions of the Gulf of St. Lawrence, and these otoliths could also be distinguished from those collected off the Nova Scotia shelf. They used different chemical tags to show how stocks mingled seasonally in the Gulf, a result similar to those reported for this species with acoustic tagging (66) [see also (79, 84)].

Otolith chemical signals often differ from place to place, but not all coastal areas differ in water chemistry. As a result, the spatial scale of discrimination for otolith studies can vary. Patterson et al. (91) showed that otoliths of Nassau grouper (Epinephelus striatus) were indistinguishable among localities in the Bahamas but were very different in Belize. Spatial discrimination among otolith studies seldom is less than 10 to 100 km, partly because differences among sites closer than this tend to shift over time. For example, chemical signatures in the Lessa and Lumpar rivers on the northwestern coast of Borneo were distinct in 1994 but not in 1995 (93). Similarly, discrimination of populations of shad (Tenualosa ilisha) was impossible over spatial scales of 100s of km in southeast India, largely because of strong differences in otolith chemistry from year to year (87). Discrimination in this species was successful in distant populations—Sumatra versus Kuwait versus India-which also showed genetic differences (87). By contrast, studies of spawning aggregations of cod in the northwest Atlantic showed otolith differences among most groups separated by as little as 50 km. These fine-scale results are associated with temporal stability of otolith chemical differences in cod. Over a period of two years, otolith signatures in cod remain largely consistent, although longer time periods showed substantial change (85).

In addition to studies on whole adult otoliths, increases in elemental discrimination allow the signatures of the central core of an otolith to be measured. This measurement allows the habitat of juveniles and adults to be compared and opens the possibility of measuring the retention of adults in natal spawning areas (94). Because it is not possible to predict the chemical signatures of otoliths from a knowledge of water chemistry (95), these signatures must be determined empirically for each fish species studied. Typically, whole otoliths from juveniles are compared among locations to generate a chemical atlas of signatures from different nursery areas. Then the cores of adult fish are assayed, and the juvenile atlas is used to estimate from which nursery area each adult is derived. These chemical assignment tests vary in power, but the tests can be assayed by asking how often they correctly assign juveniles to the nursery area from which they were collected (88, 96). Errors in assignments vary from 2% to 37% depending on the strength of spatial discrimination, but error rates of 5% to 10% appear typical (83, 88, 92, 96). Using these approaches, Thorrold et al. (96) showed significant differences in otolith chemical signatures among weakfish from estuaries separated by 100 to 200 km along the U.S. east coast. Error rates in assigning fish to their natal estuary were high in this study (29% to 37%) unless isotopic differences among estuaries were also included in the analysis. These authors also found significant differences among river systems within the Chesapeake Bay watershed, showing the potential for spatial discrimination over scales of about 50 km. When adult otolith signatures were compared to maps made from juveniles, Thorrold et al. (96) were able to show that adults tended to be found within the same estuary that they inhabited as juveniles (Figure 8). This homing of an estuarine fish back to nursery grounds shows spawning stock structure over scales of at least 100 km, with the possibility that finer-scale spatial structure may be found in the future.

Other juvenile-adult comparisons also show the degrees to which fish remain in the same region after recruitment or return to their natal nursery area to spawn. However, an unexpected complication is that the chemical atlas inferred from juvenile otoliths can shift significantly over time. For example, Gillanders & Kingsford (82) found marked spatial variation in otolith chemistries in a study of the trumpeter *Pelates sexlineatus*, but they also reported marked variation over time. Juvenile fish from the same estuaries showed significant differences in otoliths from year to year, and the ability to correctly predict the estuary from which a fish was collected actually decreased when data from two years were included in the analysis. Hamer



**Figure 8** The degree of natal homing in weakfish as measured by chemical signatures in fish otoliths. Each circle represents the fraction of spawning fish that were juveniles in each of five estuaries along the U.S. east coast. Circle size is proportional to the fraction of juveniles from that locality. The abbreviations are GA, Georgia; PS, Pamlico Sound; CB, Chesapeake Bay; DE, Delaware; and NY, New York. Redrawn from Thorrold et al. (96a).

et al. (92, p. 261) provide parallel results for the snapper *Pagrus auratus* and conclude for this system: "Future classification of adults to nursery areas will require chemical tags characterised from juveniles of the same year classes as the adults being classified." Gillanders (78) used this approach and was able to show that a large fraction (89%) of the snappers caught on reefs near Sydney, Australia, settled as juveniles into adjacent estuaries.

Most of these studies to date have involved fish that use estuaries as either spawning or nursery habitats-fewer attempts have been made to apply these techniques to wholly oceanic species (97). In addition, these studies have tended to focus on habitat differences between juvenile and adult fish. Yet, the same techniques applied to distinguish the elemental signatures of the juvenile section of an otolith can be applied to the section of the otolith laid down in the larval fish as it develops in the plankton (84, 98). To date, attempts to use otolith chemistry to track larval movement have been limited by the technical difficulty of reading the signature of the tiny otolith core that was laid down during larval life, and the similarity in water chemistries in most open ocean settings where larval fish are found. However, both problems were solved by Swearer et al. (99) in a pioneering study of the movement of coral reef fish larvae. Taking advantage of the differences in water chemistry between the open ocean and coastal zones, Swearer et al. examined the otoliths of settling blue headed wrasses (Thalassoma bifasciatum) in St. Croix in the Caribbean. They asked the simple question—do settling larvae contain a signature of open ocean water? Or do they contain only a signature of coastal waters? If the latter were true, then the larvae could be assumed to have originated on St. Croix. Swearer et al. showed that 30% to 50% of the larvae settling in one area of St. Croix originated on the same island. This degree of larval retention was unexpected—conventional wisdom and current pattern diagrams suggested that larval wrasses would seldom complete development before being washed away from coastal zones. Further evidence suggested that periods of high settlement occurred when currents favored local retention.

A similar result derives from otolith studies on Lizard Island in the Great Barrier Reef, where the larvae of the damselfish *Pomacentrus amboinensis* were labeled with a fluorescent tag by Jones et al. (100). Collection of larvae returning to the same reef suggested that 30% to 60% of the settling larvae were retained around the island and, similar to the study of Caribbean wrasses, had much less demographic exchange among islands than previously thought.

So far, otolith studies do not identify the dispersal fate of larvae that are not retained on their natal island, and substantial long-distance dispersal may still occur. Recently a numerical model of ocean movements around Lizard Island suggested that this area acted as a major retention site within the Great Barrier Reef but also contributed substantially to regional larval pools (101). However, otolith investigations appear to have potential to map the movements of larvae, not just adults or juveniles. Furthermore, the basic approach of assaying elemental composition of larvae can be applied to larvae of mollusks and crustacea (98, 102, 103). Temporal shifts in chemical atlases, changes in the uptake of trace minerals from sea water depending on physiological condition or temperature, and the spatial resolution of significant differences in chemistry in nonestuarine settings (95) all complicate the interpretation of otolith data. Partly owing to these complexities, few measurements of larval dispersal patterns or distances are available yet from otolith studies. Further development of this technology may provide a new window into larval neighborhood sizes for a wide variety of species.

#### POPULATION GENETICS AND MEASURING DISPERSAL

Environmentally induced tags in larval fish and invertebrates have potential as markers of larval movement, but these environmental signatures can be difficult to find and use. Larvae and adults of all species also carry along with them a separate identity tag—their DNA—and this population or individual-level tag has been avidly investigated for several decades.

Most genetic studies of marine species emphasize patterns of genetic differentiation over evolutionary time frames, and many investigate genetics over spatial scales that range from 100s to 1000s to 10,000s of km (104–108). In general, patterns of marine genetic differentiation follow expectations based on larval life history. For species with relatively low potential for dispersal, genetic differentiation can occur over short spatial scales. Thus, animals or algae with crawl-away offspring tend to show genetic differences over scales of km (109–114), whereas species with larvae that are in the plankton for weeks or months generally show large genetic differences over only 100s or 1000s of km (106, 108, 115). Pelagic animals tend to have broadly dispersed population structure (116–118) except for species such as turtles (119–121) that have strong natal homing. Other animals with complex migration behaviors, such as whales, show strong genetic structure when offspring inherit their migration route preference or their spawning beach preference from their parents (122, 123).

Although the overall relationships between genetic structure and marine life histories seem to generally match, there are a growing number of exceptions that give us increased insight into marine populations. Working in the California Current, Bucklin et al. (124) showed that the euphaussid *Nematoscelis difficilis* differed genetically between inshore and offshore collections. Similar efforts in the Atlantic showed that the copepod *Calanus finmarchicus* had distinct genetic structure in different gyre systems (125). Morphospecies of planktonic foraminifera with global ranges have been shown to differ genetically between ocean basins and to sometimes consist of several sympatric cryptic species (126–129). Strong genetic differentiation in benthic species with extended larval durations have recently been reported, including stomatopods in Indonesia (130, 131) and gobies in the Caribbean (104). These data sets augment prior work showing genetic breaks at biogeographic boundaries in Atlantic (132), Indonesian (110, 133), and Mediterranean (134) marine species.

These cases in which an unexpected structure is observed provide powerful insights into the relationships between physical and biological oceanography (131,

132, 135). They imply that larvae are not moved like passive particles in ocean currents (130), that larvae may not survive the transit of deep water (104, 130, 136), or that the mixing of water in semidistinct ocean gyres does not significantly mix populations of plankton (126, 135). These genetic signatures of nominally high dispersal species are thus powerful allies in understanding the relationships between physical features of oceans and their biological populations.

Essentially, signals of strong genetic structure show regions across which gene flow is very low. A genetic signal is measured as the index  $F_{ST}$ , which is roughly the fraction of genetic variation that is distributed geographically. Values for  $F_{ST}$ in marine populations vary from very high (0.3–0.4) [e.g., Marko (112)] to vanishingly small (effectively zero), and a series of analytical methods and computer packages allow the calculation of  $F_{ST}$  from a wide variety of types of genetic data, including microsatellites, allozymes, restriction fragment length polymorphisms, and DNA sequences (137–139).

Interpreting the biological meaning of  $F_{ST}$  is more difficult than measuring it or testing it for statistical significance. Population genetic theory helps show how low gene flow must be before structure is observed, using a theoretical framework derived from work by Sewall Wright (1) and others on the Island Model of population structure (140, 141). A typical conclusion is that successful movement of even one migrant per generation is enough to prevent wholesale population divergence (142). Significant genetic differences can occur in cases of much higher rates of migration, but in these cases the populations are unlikely to evolve separately.

Some work has been done on different models of gene flow, including a stepping stone model in which populations exchange immigrants with populations only immediately adjacent to themselves (143, 144). Major advantages of these models are, for example, that they more realistically represent migration scenarios in the wild, especially of coastal marine species (4), and that they predict populations more geographically distant will show higher levels of genetic distinction at equilibrium (144). Furthermore, population arrays with lower gene flow show a greater accumulation of genetic distance over geographic distance (4, 143, 144), and therefore this signal of isolation by distance can be a powerful way to measure dispersal distances. In the past, these distances had been formally defined as genetic neighborhood size (1) and represented the variance of the geographic distribution of offspring relative to their parents. This is in effect the width of the dispersal cloud around reproducing adults, and it is a close approximation to the larval neighborhood size discussed in the Introduction.

For example, genetic differentiation of the coastal rockfish *Sebastes caurinus* builds up along the U.S. west coast so that  $F_{ST}$  increases by about 0.01 each 1500 km [(145), Figure 9]. Simulations of isolation by distance among 1000 populations each with 1000 reproductive individuals showed that this magnitude of geographic differentiation occurred when species had an average dispersal distance of about 50 to 100 km a generation (4), although this figure is sensitive to assumptions about the way larvae disperse, the overall population

55



# Distance between populations (km)

**Figure 9** Genetic distance increases with geographic distance in populations of the copper rockfish (*Sebastes caurinus*) along the west coast of the United States. These signatures of genetic isolation by distance are consistent with limited gene flow between populations arrayed along a coastline and can be used to estimate average larval dispersal. Redrawn from Buonaccorsi et al. (145).

size, and the amount of time the population has had to reach drift-dispersal equilibrium.

Kinlan & Gaines (146) used this framework to estimate dispersal distances from a survey of genetic studies of marine plants and animals. They specifically excluded studies that showed no signal of isolation by distance and so excluded species that potentially have high enough dispersal to prevent genetic differentiation. However, the studies that did show isolation by distance reveal two interesting patterns of dispersal (Figure 10). First, taxa with generally low dispersal potential, such as algae, have low rates of dispersal—typically between 100 m and 1 km per generation. Second, taxa with generally high potential for dispersal, such as marine fish, have dispersal distances measured to be much higher—between 20 and 200 km. Marine invertebrates have a wide array of dispersal abilities (147) and show a correspondingly broad range of genetic dispersal distances (Figure 10).

Few of these dispersal estimates are above 200 km. The average for fish is about 100 km, and the average for invertebrates is about 10 km. These figures should be considered provisional for two reasons. First, they are calculated using a limited number of simulations, and the sensitivity of these estimates to changes in simulation conditions has not been fully explored. Second, taxa that did not show an isolation-by-distance signal are not included in this figure, so species with particularly high dispersal may have been eliminated from the analysis (S.D. Gaines, personal communication). Nevertheless, the relative ordering of results from these analyses are not sensitive to modeling conditions, and the relative ordering seems



**Figure 10** Dispersal estimates based on genetic isolation by distance for marine taxa summarized by Kinlan & Gaines (146), who used the methods of Palumbi (4). Taxa with dispersal high enough not to show an isolation-by-distance signal are not included in this analysis.

to make biological sense. In addition, the results are highly suggestive that genetic isolation patterns might be a powerful source of insight about larval dispersal profiles and that these profiles tend to cluster in the range of 10 to 100 km, not 100s to 1000s of km.

# WHAT DO SUCH DIFFERENT TYPES OF DATA TELL US?

Movement patterns of marine species are highly variable, but emerging technologies allow a much more precise estimate of range occupation than ever before. Some approaches are designed to follow adult organisms over vast distances, some allow a continuous record of individual movement, and some can span life history stages to view the dispersal of planktonic eggs and larvae. Overall, emerging data show that the wide dispersion expected for mobile fish and larvae has many exceptions. Even some pelagic fish have more restricted movement patterns than thought previously, although as expected, this category of species appears to have the widest ranges. Across a variety of habitats, benthic fish appear often to have high site fidelities, pursue clear migration routes among habitats, or shift habitat use patterns in predictable ways with age. Individuals followed with acoustic monitoring may spend the majority of their time within a kilometer of a home site. Ranges of 10 to 20 km or above appear rare among nonmigratory benthic fish studied to date, although the number of careful studies is small, and species chosen for study may have low movement potential. Otolith chemistry and genetics have begun to delineate population boundaries in marine species, and these studies have been most successful at showing when and where adult populations do not mix. Between satellite responders, archival tags, acoustic surveys, chemical signatures of otoliths or other calcareous parts, and genetic analyses, methods now exist to follow virtually all individual marine organisms above about 10 cm. The potential to gain increased understanding of movement patterns in space and time is enormous, and it is possible to imagine high-resolution studies of marine species similar to those regularly conducted on terrestrial birds and mammals. Such detailed studies will contribute greatly to understanding the way species use habitats, the scales over which individual animals spend their lives, and the implications of protecting particular areas of the oceans from various types of human impact. Despite the ability to follow movement patterns of many species, there are very few comparative studies across taxa in the same environments. Such comparisons are essential if we are to build a picture of the way multiple marine species use habitats within the same ecosystem.

Larval movement patterns are vastly more difficult to discern than adult movement patterns, and the most promising approaches-otolith chemistry and genetics-require prodigious effort or a serious list of assumptions to turn raw data into discernable patterns. Yet, these methods have suggested an increasingly clear pattern of larval retention or evidence of restricted average dispersal. Summaries across many species for otolith microchemistry are not available, but a few studies have shown high levels of retention at the level of individual islands or along coastlines. Reviews of genetic differences based on stepping-stone models suggest larval movement of less than 100 km in the vast majority of cases in which genetic patterns are visible. These values are smaller than expected for highly dispersive marine larvae, and the values may reflect poor survival of larvae that move long distances, poor access to suitable settlement locations of larvae that are moved offshore, or the effect of large-scale environmental gradients on larval survival. The result of these overlayered processes of dispersal and mortality may be a small effective dispersal distance combined with occasional long-distance movement.

Data from marine reserves are far less valuable in determining patterns of movement—largely because fishing mortality changes the results dramatically. Spillover from reserves should measure fish movement rates, but the rate of fish removal outside reserves is the chief determinant of the extent of the spillover cloud. Even the expected pattern of decreased reserve protection for highly mobile fish is reversed in available data summaries (Figure 8). This is likely because highly mobile fish, which are protected less in small reserves, experience higher fishing pressure and thus show a greater benefit from even partial protection. Perhaps the clearest expected signal of dispersal from reserves will be the shape and size of the cloud of larvae released by adults within reserve borders. Monitoring the larval spillover

cloud should provide one of the most direct views of the process of larval dispersal, but to date there are very few studies that have attempted these measurements.

#### NEIGHBORHOODS AND MANAGEMENT

Large migratory species have by far the largest neighborhood sizes. Baleen whales that migrate between polar feeding and subtropical breeding grounds, as well as marine turtles that move between feeding grounds and nesting beaches near different continents, can travel 10,000 km in a year. Ironically, these behaviorally complex species may often have a very fine scale population structure because individuals may return to the same areas year after year to breed. Thus, small scale spatial protection—particularly during breeding seasons—can be a powerful tool. However, the long-distance migration of these species requires at least low-level protection outside of breeding areas and times. Turtles and albatross, for example, are killed in great numbers by pelagic longliners when they forage far from breeding areas.

Similar patterns are seen in pelagic fish, many of which have migratory patterns that require movement over 1000s of km. For blue fin tuna, migrations between oceans are rare, but movement across ocean basins appears common (56, 57, 62). Whether tuna return to their natal spawning areas to breed is currently unknown, but this could be discovered through a combination of tagging and genetic surveys. Smaller pelagic fish can show much more restricted ranges—50 to 200 km for some mackerel or kingfish (9, 52)—and similar species may have different range sizes. Despite this potential for movement, moderately sized pelagic fish have been shown to respond well to protection in relatively small reserves (85), though this is likely a reflection of high fishing mortality.

Many benthic fish seem to fall into the same range of movement as small pelagic fish, moving 10s to 100s of km, although temperate and tropical reef fish may have home ranges of 1 km or less. These species may be as sedentary as many terrestrial mammals and nonmigratory birds, and they may be well protected by reserves that are just a few times larger than average home ranges. Even if individuals roam outside reserve boundaries (58), they may still receive significant protection from fishing mortality. Small benthic fish can have very small home ranges but are probably not often a target of strong fishing pressure unless overall fishing pressure is very high. In such cases, small reserves function well to protect populations. Likewise, many mobile benthic invertebrates probably have low range sizes, unless they engage in spawning migrations (148), although much less attention has been paid to understanding their movement patterns. In summary (Table 2), spatial management of marine populations over scales of 10 to 100 km may well cover the adult neighborhood sizes of a large fraction of species important in commercial harvest and ecosystem dynamics. Species not well covered by such management scales are species with spawning migrations or ontogenetic habitat shifts, or medium-to-large pelagic fish, turtles, and mammals.

Larval neighborhood sizes are likely far higher than these adult neighborhoods. For many marine species with planktonic larvae, gene flow across large distances

Scale (km)	Adult	Larval
>1000s	Large migratory species	Intermittent gene flow, many species
100s-1000s	Large pelagic fish	Some fish
10s-100s	Most benthic fish Smaller pelagic fish	Most fish Most invertebrates
1–10s	Small benthic fish Many benthic invertebrates	Algal spores Planktonic direct developers
<1	Sessile species Species with highly specialized habitat needs	Benthic direct developers

**TABLE 2** Approximate adult and larval neighborhood sizes for a variety of marine life history groups<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Values are based on emerging data from the variety of studies discussed here, contain significant exceptions, and require continued validation.

occurs commonly over evolutionary time frames (108, 149). These long-distance events may have only minor impact on population growth, except when they seed new habitats with species that typically did not occur there. Long-distance dispersal over ecological time frames has been difficult to document rigorously. One summary of patterns of genetic differentiation over distance suggests that larval dispersal clouds for fish are often in the range of 50 to 200 km. Invertebrates can have a wider distribution of dispersal distances due to their wider range of larval life histories and show buildup of genetic differentiation consistent with dispersal of 10 to 100 km in most cases studied. Both genetic and microchemical surveys of larval spread suggest cases in which local retention of larvae is surprisingly high, leading to the possibility that marine populations are not universally open over large geographic scales.

However, even these indications of lower-than-expected dispersal still tend to yield neighborhood sizes that are larger than most present-day marine reserves. In such cases, single, small reserves are unlikely to provide the best balance of conservation and fisheries' benefits (27), and networks of marine reserves are likely to be necessary. One approach to the design of reserve networks is to set the size of reserves on the basis of adult neighborhood scales and to set the spacing of reserves on the basis of larval neighborhood scales. Yet, the variety of these scales among species and the need for reserves to protect all species in a habitat make such simple rules quite complicated to implement. A second principle suggested by the data reviewed here is that species that are not overfished, and do not depend on fished species for shelter or food, have little response to reserves. Thus life history traits of unfished species may be less important in setting the scales of reserves than the species that differ strongly inside and outside reserves. A third principle is that even species with large adult neighborhoods benefit from reserves if the fishing pressure on them is severe. Reserve networks built using the variety of neighborhood sizes demanded by fished species and species otherwise affected by fishing may be the most practical way to proceed.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Information about marine neighborhood size can be gleaned from a large variety of sources. For example, marine reserves can be considered spatial experiments that may tell us a great deal about neighborhood size. Species that respond well to reserve protection may have neighborhood sizes that are the same as the scale of the reserve. A review of the reserve literature shows several nonintuitive patterns, especially that species with the largest adult neighborhoods show the strongest protection in small reserves. This results most likely from the overarching importance of fishing pressure on larger species that tend to move greater distances. Fishing pressure also dramatically affects the width of the spillover cloud of adults from reserves. One of the best uses of reserves as ecological experiments will be to measure the dispersal of larvae from these sources of highly fecund adults.

Numerous other methods, in addition to reserve experiments, have been developed to track movement patterns of marine species, and one or more will probably be appropriate for virtually all species over 10 cm in length. Data from physical tags, archival tags that send data via satellite, and acoustic tags supply information about movement on different scales of time and space, and in general tagging has shown the range of motion for pelagic and dermersal fish. Demersal fish can have surprisingly small home ranges, and even small pelagic fish have been shown to have limited neighborhood sizes. Not surprisingly, large pelagic fish can range over thousands of kilometers. Tagging data are limited by their tendency to be descriptive and by the difficulty in comparing results from one study to the next. The most informative data sets compare movement over time, but in some cases such detailed data are not available.

Larval dispersal patterns have been examined with microchemistry and genetics. Recent results hint at much smaller larval dispersal ranges than previously suspected but need corroboration among taxa. Chemical signals from otoliths have great potential to trace movement patterns of larvae and adults, but these studies are hampered by the need to document a detailed physical map of chemical availabilities before otolith data can be interpreted. Genetic results do not have this limitation but are impeded by small amounts of migration that may lead to very similar genetic signatures from place to place. This problem has been solved lately through use of models that use the geographic scale of genetic differentiation to measure average dispersal distances, but the link between genetic change and dispersal measured in kilometers requires a series of poorly tested assumptions.

Current data suggest the overall scale of neighborhood sizes for different species commonly studied in a variety of marine communities but provide incomplete guidance for reserve networks. This is largely because so few comparative surveys of larval dispersal patterns and adult movement patterns have been made for the wide variety of species currently used as fishing targets. For example, the National Marine Fisheries Service lists the following species as the most important to the commercial fishery of California (in order of declining revenues in 2000): squid, crab, sea urchin, swordfish, salmon, sardines, sablefish, and lobster. Recreational fishing is highest on ling cod, halibut, barracuda, rockfish, and tuna. Of these species qualitative data on adult neighborhoods are available for ling cod, rockfish, tuna, crab, sea urchin, swordfish, and salmon, with patterns being similar to those in Table 2. However, little information is available for larval neighborhoods except for indications of low dispersal potential for at least one species of rockfish (145) and high dispersal in squid and sea urchins (150, 151). Obtaining more detailed information about adult neighborhoods is now possible through a combination of the tagging methods described above. Obtaining more information about larval neighborhoods awaits refinement of microchemical approaches and application of more intense genetic sampling.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I thank E. Sotka, Liz Alter, and T. Oliver for comments and S. Belliveau for technical and production assistance. Work on marine reserves and genetics is supported by the Pew Charitable Trusts and the Andrew Mellon Foundation.

#### The Annual Review of Environment and Resources is online at http://environ.annualreviews.org

#### LITERATURE CITED

- Wright S. 1978. Variability Within and Among Natural Populations. Vol. 4. Chicago: Univ. Chicago Press. 565 pp.
- Alcala AC, Russ GR. 1990. A direct test of the effects of protective management on abundance and yield of tropical marine resources. J. Cons. 46:40–47
- Polunin N, Roberts CM. 1993. Greater biomass and value of target coral-reef fishes in two small Caribbean marine reserves. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 100:167–76
- Palumbi SR. 2003. Population genetics, demographic connectivity, and the design of marine reserves. *Ecol. Appl.* 13:S146– 58
- Halpern B. 2003. The impact of marine reserves: Do reserves work and does reserve size matter? *Ecol. Appl.* 13:S117–37
- Friedlander AM, Brown EK, Jokiel PL, Smith WR, Rodgers KS. 2003. Effects of habitat, wave exposure, and marine protected area status on coral reef fish assem-

blages in the Hawaiian archipelago. *Coral Reefs* 22:291–305

- McClanahan TR, Arthur R. 2001. The effect of marine reserves and habitat on populations of East African coral reef fishes. *Ecol. Appl.* 11:559–69
- Bell JD. 1983. Effects of depth and marine reserve fishing restrictions on the structure of a rocky reef fish assemblage in the northwestern Mediterranean Sea. J. Appl. Ecol. 20:357–69
- Davis D, Banks S, Cuthill M. 1997. Whale sharks in Ningaloo Marine Park: managing tourism in an Australian marine protected area. *Tour. Manag.* 18:259
- Babcock RC, Kelly S, Shears NT, Walker JW, Willis TJ. 1999. Changes in community structure in temperate marine reserves. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 189:125– 34
- 11. Manriquez P, Castilla J. 2001. Significance of marine protected areas in central

Chile as seeding grounds for the gastropod *Concholepas concholepas*. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 215:201–11

- McClanahan T. 1989. Kenyan coral reefassociated gastropod fauna—a comparison between protected and unprotected reefs. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 53:11–20
- Micheli F, Halpern BS, Botsford L, Warner RR. 2004. Community changes in marine reserves. *Ecol. Appl.* In press
- Roberts CM. 1995. Rapid build-up of fish biomass in a Caribbean marine reserve. *Conserv. Biol.* 9:815–26
- Shears NT, Babcock RC. 2002. Marine reserves demonstrate top-down control of community structure on temperate reefs. *Oecologia* 132:131–42
- Paddack M, Estes J. 2000. Kelp forest fish populations in marine reserves and adjacent exploited areas of central California. *Ecol. Appl.* 10:855–70
- Fujita RM, Willingham V, Freitas J. 1998.
   A Review of the Performance of Some U.S. West Coast Marine Reserves. Environ. Def., Oakland, CA
- Roberts CM, Bohnsack JA, Gell F, Hawkins JP, Goodridge R. 2001. Effects of marine reserves on adjacent fisheries. *Science* 294:1920–23
- Bohnsack JA. 1994. How marine fishery reserves can improve reef fisheries. *Proc. Gulf Caribb. Fish. Inst.* 43:217–41
- Stoner AW, Ray M. 1996. Queen conch, *Strombus gigas*, in fished and unfished lo- cations of the Bahamas: effects of a ma- rine fishery reserve on adults, juveniles, and larval production. *Fish. Bull.* 94:551– 65
- Murawski SA, Brown R, Lai HL, Rago PJ, Hendrickson L. 2000. Large-scale closed areas as a fishery-management tool in temperate marine systems: the Georges Bank experience. *Bull. Mar. Sci.* 66:775– 98
- 22. Tegner MJ. 1992. Brood-stock transplants as a approach to abalone stock enhancement. In *Abalone of the World: Their Biology, Fisheries and Culture*, ed. SA

Shepherd, MJ Tegner, SA Guzman del Proo, pp. 461–73. Oxford, UK: Blackwell Sci.

- Russ GR, Alcala AC. 1996. Do marine reserves export adult fish biomass? Evidence from Apo Island, central Philippines. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 132:1–9
- Halpern BS, Warner RR. 2002. Marine reserves have rapid and lasting effects. *Ecol. Lett.* 5:361–66
- Russ GR, Alcala AC. 1996. Marine reserves: Rates and patterns of recovery and decline of large predatory fish. *Ecol. Appl.* 6:947–61
- DeMartini EE. 1993. Modeling the potential of fishery reserves for managing Pacific coral reef fishes. *Fish. Bull.* 91:414– 27
- Botsford LW, Hastings A, Gaines SD. 2001. Dependence of sustainability on the configuration of marine reserves and larval dispersal distance. *Ecol. Lett.* 4:144– 50
- Botsford LW, Micheli F, Hastings A. 2003. Principles for the design of marine reserves. *Ecol. Appl.* 13:S25–31
- Hastings A, Botsford LW. 1999. Equivalence in yield from marine reserves and traditional fisheries management. *Science* 284:1537–41
- Gobert B. 2000. Comparative assessment of multispecies reef fish resources in the Lesser Antilles. *Fish. Res.* 44:247–60
- Chapman MR, Kramer DL. 1999. Gradients in coral feef fish density and size across the Barbados Marine Reserve boundary: effects of reserve protection and habitat characteristics. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 181:81–96
- McClanahan T, Mangi S. 2000. Spillover of exploitable fishes from a marine park and its effect on the adjacent fishery. *Ecol. Appl.* 10:1792–805
- Russ GR, Alcala AC. 1999. Management histories of Sumilon and Apo Marine Reserves, Philippines, and their influence on National Marine Resource Policy. *Coral Reefs* 18:307–19

- Russ GR, Alcala AC. 2003. Marine reserves: rates and patterns of recovery and decline of predatory fish, 1983–2000. *Ecol. Appl.* 13:1553–65
- Russ GR, Alcala AC. 1989. Effects of intense fishing pressure on an assemblage of coral reef fishes. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 56:13–28
- 36. Corless M, Hatcher B, Hunte W, Scott S. 1997. Assessing the potential for fish migration from marine reserves to adjacent fished areas in the Soufriere Marine Management Area, St. Lucia. *Proc. Gulf Caribb. Fish Inst.* 49:71–98
- Tawake A, Parks J, Radikedike P, Aalbersberg B, Vuki V, Salafsky N. 2001. Harvesting clams and data: involving local communities in monitoring: a case in Fiji. *Conserv. Biol. Pract.* 2:32–35
- Tawake A, Gell F, Roberts C. 2002. Community-based closed areas in Fiji. In *The Fishery Effects of Marine Reserves and Fishery Closures*, ed. F Gell, C Roberts, pp. 59–62. Washington, DC: WWF-US
- Rago PJ, McSherry M. 2002. Spatial distribution of fishing effort for sea scallops: 1998–2000. Presented at Northeast Reg. Essent. Fish Habitat Steer. Comm., Workshop Eff. Fish. Gear Mar. Habitats Northeast. United States, Boston, Mass.
- Peterson CH, Summerson HC, Luettich RA. 1996. Response of bay scallops to spawner transplants: a test of recruitment limitation. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 132:93– 107
- Knowlton N, Keller B. 1986. Larvae which fall short of their potential-highly localized recruitment in an alpheid shrimp with extended larval development. *Bull. Mar. Sci.* 39:213–23
- Tewfik A, Bene C. 2003. Effects of natural barriers on the spillover of a marine mollusc: implications for fisheries reserves. *Aquat. Conserv.: Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst.* 13:473–88
- Chapman MR, Kramer DL. 2000. Movements of fishes within and among fring-

ing coral reefs in Barbados. *Environ. Biol. Fish.* 57:11–24

- Kelly S, Scott D, MacDiarmid A. 2002. The value of a spillover fishery for spiny lobsters around a marine reserve in northern New Zealand. *Coast. Manag.* 30:153– 66
- 45. Davidson R, Villouta E, Cole R, Barrier R. 2002. Effects of marine reserve protection on spiny lobster (*Jasus edwardsii*) abundance and size at Tonga Island Marine Reserve, New Zealand. *Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst.* 12:213–27
- 46. Tupper M, Rudd MA. 2002. Speciesspecific impacts of a small marine reserve on reef fish production and fishing productivity in the Turks and Caicos Islands. *Environ. Conserv.* 29:484–92
- Russ GR. 2002. Yet another review of marine reserves as reef fisheries management tools. In *Coral Reef Fishes: Dynamics and Diversity in a Complex Ecosystem*, ed. PF Sale, pp. 421–43. San Diego: Academic
- Zeller D, Stoute SL, Russ GR. 2003. Movements of reef fishes across marine reserve boundaries: effects of manipulating a density gradient. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 254:269–80
- Kramer DL, Chapman MR. 1999. Implications of fish home range size and relocation for marine reserve function. *Environ. Biol. Fish.* 55:65–79
- Hastein T, Hill BJ, Berthe F, Lightner DV. 2001. Traceability of aquatic animals. *Rev. Sci. Tech.* 20:564–83
- Kelly S, MacDiarmid A. 2003. Movement patterns of mature spiny lobsters, *Jasus edwardsii*, from a marine reserve. *N. Z. J. Mar. Freshw. Res.* 37:149–58
- 52. Gunn JS, Patterson TA, Pepperell JG. 2003. Short-term movement and behaviour of black marlin *Makaira indica* in the Coral Sea as determined through a pop-up satellite archival tagging experiment. *Mar. Freshw. Res.* 54:515–25
- 53. Sibert J, Musyl M, Brill R. 2003. Horizontal movements of bigeye tuna (*Thunnus*

*obesus*) near Hawaii determined by Kalman filter analysis of archival tagging data. *Fish. Oceanogr.* 12:141–51

- Block BA, Costa DP, Boehlert GW, Kochevar RE. 2002. Revealing pelagic habitat use: the tagging of Pacific pelagics program. *Oceanol. Acta* 25:255–66
- Boustany AM, Davis SF, Pyle P, Anderson SD, Le Boeuf BJ, Block BA. 2002. Satellite tagging—expanded niche for white sharks. *Nature* 415:35–36
- Block BA, Dewar H, Williams T, Prince ED, Farwell C, Fudge D. 1998. A new satellite technology for tracking the movements of Atlantic bluefin tuna. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95:9384–89
- 57. Block BA, Dewar H, Blackwell SB, Williams TD, Prince ED, et al. 2001. Migratory movements, depth preferences, and thermal biology of Atlantic bluefin tuna. *Science* 293:1310–14
- Starr R, Heine J, Felton J, Cailliet G. 2002. Movements of bocaccio (*Sebastes pau-cispinis*) and greenspotted (*S. chlorostic-tus*) rockfishes in a Monterey submarine canyon: implications for the design of marine reserves. *Fish. Bull.* 100:324–37
- 59. Ortiz M, Prince ED, Serafy JE, Holts DB, Davy KB, et al. 2003. Global overview of the major constituent-based billfish tagging programs and their results since 1954. *Mar. Freshw. Res.* 54:489–507
- Hoolihan J. 2003. Sailfish movement in the Arabian Gulf: a summary of tagging efforts. *Mar. Freshw. Res.* 54:509–13
- Takahashi M, Okamura H, Yokawa K, Okazaki M. 2003. Swimming behaviour and migration of a swordfish recorded by an archival tag. *Mar. Freshw. Res.* 54:527– 34
- Block BA, Dewar H, Williams T, Prince E, Farwell C. 1998. Archival tagging of Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*). *Mar. Technol. Soc. J.* 32:37–46
- Fowler AJ, Jones GK, McGarvey R. 2002. Characteristics and consequences of movement patterns of King George whiting (Perciformes: *Sillaginodes punc*-

*tata*) in South Australia. *Mar. Freshw. Res.* 53:1055–69

- 64. Gillanders BM, Ferrell DJ, Andrew NL. 2001. Estimates of movement and lifehistory parameters of yellowtail kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*): How useful are data from a cooperative tagging programme? *Mar. Freshw. Res.* 52:179–92
- 65. Begg G, Cameron D, Sawynok W. 1997. Movements and stock structure of school mackerel (*Scomberomorus queenslandicus*) and spotted mackerel (*S. munroi*) in Australian East-Coast waters. *Mar. Freshw. Res.* 48:295–301
- Comeau LA, Campana SE, Castonguay M. 2002. Automated monitoring of a large-scale cod (*Gadus morhua*) migration in the open sea. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 59:1845–50
- Martell SJD, Walters CJ, Wallace SS. 2000. The use of marine protected areas for conservation of lingcod (*Ophiodon elongatus*). *Bull. Mar. Sci.* 66:729–43
- Patterson WF, Watterson JC, Shipp RL, Cowan JH. 2001. Movement of tagged red snapper in the northern Gulf of Mexico. *Trans. Am. Fish. Soc.* 130:533–45
- 69. Brouwer S. 2002. Movement patterns of red steenbras *Petrus rupestris* tagged and released in the Tsitsikamma National Park, South Africa. S. Afr. J. Mar. Sci.-Suid-Afr. Tydskr. Seewetenskap 24:375– 78
- Miller MJ, Able KW. 2002. Movements and growth of tagged young-of-the-year Atlantic croaker (*Micropogonias undulatus L.*) in restored and reference marsh creeks in Delaware Bay, USA. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.* 267:15–33
- Ross SW, Lancaster JE. 2002. Movements and site fidelity of two juvenile fish species using surf zone nursery habitats along the southeastern North Carolina coast. *Environ. Biol. Fish.* 63:161– 72
- Watson M, Munro JL, Gell FR. 2002. Settlement, movement and early juvenile mortality of the yellowtail snapper

Ocyurus chrysurus. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 237:247–56

- 73. Williams R, Tuck GN, Constable AJ, Lamb T. 2002. Movement, growth and available abundance to the fishery of *Dissostichus eleginoides* Smitt,1898 at Heard Island, derived from tagging experiments. *CCAMLR Sci.* 9:33–48
- 74. Willis TJ, Parsons DM, Babcock RC. 2001. Evidence for long-term site fidelity of snapper (*Pagrus auratus*) within a marine reserve. *N. Z. J. Mar. Freshw. Res.* 35:581–90
- Hartney K. 1996. Site fidelity and homing behaviour of some kelp-bed fishes. J. Fish Biol. 49:1062–69
- Marnane MJ. 2000. Site fidelity and homing behaviour in coral reef cardinalfishes. *J. Fish Biol.* 57:1590–600
- Levin LA, Huggett D, Myers P, Bridges T, Weaver J. 1993. Rare-earth tagging methods for the study of larval dispersal by marine-invertebrates. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 38:246–360
- Gillanders BM. 2002. Connectivity between juvenile and adult fish populations: Do adults remain near their recruitment estuaries? *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 240:215– 23
- Campana SE. 1999. Chemistry and composition of fish otoliths: pathways, mechanisms and applications. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 188:263–97
- Bath GE, Thorrold SR, Jones CM, Campana SE, McLaren JW, Lam JWH. 2000. Strontium and barium uptake in aragonitic otoliths of marine fish. *Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 64:1705–14
- Gillanders BM. 2001. Trace metals in four structures of fish and their use for estimates of stock structure. *Fish. Bull.* 99:410–19
- Gillanders BM, Kingsford MJ. 2000. Elemental fingerprints of otoliths of fish may distinguish estuarine 'nursery' habitats. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 201:273–86
- Gillanders BM. 2002. Temporal and spatial variability in elemental composition

of otoliths: implications for determining stock identity and connectivity of populations. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 59:669–79

- Thorrold SR, Jones GP, Hellberg ME, Burton RS, Swearer SE, et al. 2002. Quantifying larval retention and connectivity in marine populations with artificial and natural markers. *Bull. Mar. Sci.* 70:291–308
- Campana SE, Chouinard GA, Hanson JM, Frechet A, Brattey J. 2000. Otolith elemental fingerprints as biological tracers of fish stocks. *Fish. Res.* 46:343–57
- Campana SE, Thorrold SR. 2001. Otoliths, increments, and elements: keys to a comprehensive understanding of fish populations? *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 58: 30–38
- Milton DA, Chenery SR. 2001. Can otolith chemistry detect the population structure of the shad hilsa *Tenualosa ilisha*? Comparison with the results of genetic and morphological studies. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 222:239–51
- Morris JA, Rulifson RA, Toburen LH. 2003. Life history strategies of striped bass, *Morone saxatilis*, populations inferred from otolith microchemistry. *Fish. Res.* 62:53–63
- Edmonds J, Caputi N, Morita M. 1991. Stock discrimination by trace-element analysis of otoliths of orange roughy (*Hoplostethus atlanticus*), a deep-water marine teleost. *Aust. J. Mar. Freshw. Res.* 42: 383–89
- Edmonds J, Steckis R, Moran M, Caputi N, Morita M. 1999. Stock delineation of pink snapper and tailor from western Australia by analysis of stable isotope and strontium/calcium ratios in otolith carbonate. J. Fish Biol. 55:243–59
- Patterson HM, Thorrold SR, Shenker JM. 1999. Analysis of otolith chemistry in Nassau grouper (*Epinephelus striatus*) from the Bahamas and Belize using solution based Icp Ms. *Coral Reefs* 18: 171–78
- 92. Hamer PA, Jenkins GP, Gillanders BM. 2003. Otolith chemistry of juvenile

snapper *Pagrus auratus* in Victorian waters: natural chemical tags and their temporal variation. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 263: 261–73

- Milton D, Chenery S, Farmer M, Blaber S. 1997. Identifying the spawning estuaries of the tropical shad, *Terubok tenualosa toli*, using otolith microchemistry. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 153:283–91
- 94. Latkoczy C, Strasse WP, Thorrold S, Swart PK, Gunther D. 2003. Fish ear bones hold clues to migration implications for fisheries models and design of marine protected areas. *Forensic Sci. Int.* 136:384–85
- Campana SE, Jones C. 1998. Radiocarbon from nuclear testing applied to age validation of black drum, *Pogonias cromis. Fish. Bull.* 96:185–92
- 96. Thorrold S, Jones C, Swart P, Targett T. 1998. Accurate classification of juvenile weakfish *Cynoscion regalis* to estuarine nursery areas based on chemical signatures in otoliths. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 173:253–65
- 96a. Thorrold S, Latkoczy C, Swart P, Jones C. 2001. Natal homing in a marine fish metapopulation. *Science* 291:297–99
  - Campana S, Joyce W, Marks L, Natanson L, Kohler N, et al. 2002. Population dynamics of the porbeagle in the Northwest Atlantic Ocean. N. Am. J. Fish. Manag. 22:106–21
- Zacherl DC, Manriquez PH, Paradis G, Day RW, Castilla JC, et al. 2003. Trace elemental fingerprinting of gastropod statoliths to study larval dispersal trajectories. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 248:297–303
- Swearer SE, Caselle JE, Lea DW, Warner RR. 1999. Larval retention and recruitment in an island population of a coralreef fish. *Nature* 402:799–802
- Jones GP, Milicich MJ, Emslie MJ, Lunow C. 1999. Self-recruitment in a coral reef fish population. *Nature* 402: 802–4
- James MK, Armsworth PR, Mason LB, Bode L. 2002. The structure of reef fish

metapopulations: modelling larval dispersal and retention pattern. *Proc. R. Soc. London Ser. B* 269:2079–86

- 102. Dibacco C, Levin L. 2000. Development and application of elemental fingerprinting to track the dispersal of marine invertebrate larvae. *Limnol. Oceanogr.* 45:871– 80
- 103. Zacherl DC, Paradis G, Lea DW. 2003. Barium and strontium uptake into larval protoconchs and statoliths of the marine neogastropod *Kelletia kelledi. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta* 67:4091–99
- 104. Taylor MS, Hellberg ME. 2003. Genetic evidence for local retention of pelagic larvae in a Caribbean reef fish. *Science* 299: 107–9
- 105. Waples RS. 1998. Separating the wheat from the chaff: patterns of genetic differentiation in high gene flow species. J. *Hered.* 89:438–50
- Palumbi SR. 1992. Marine speciation on a small planet. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 7:114– 18
- 107. Palumbi SR. 1996. What can molecular genetics contribute to marine biogeography? An urchin's tale. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 203:75–92
- 108. Grosberg RK, Cunningham CW. 2001. Genetic structure in the sea: from populations to communities. In *Marine Community Ecology*, ed. MD Bertness, S Gaines, ME Hay, pp. 61–84. Sunderland, MA: Sinauer
- Grosberg R, Levitan D, Cameron B. 1996. Evolutionary genetics of allorecognition in the colonial hydroid *Hydractinia* symbiolongicarpus. Evolution 50:2221– 40
- McMillan W, Palumbi SR. 1995. Concordant evolutionary patterns among Indo-West Pacific butterflyfishes. *Proc. R. Soc. London Ser. B* 260:229–36
- McFadden CS. 1997. Contributions of sexual and asexual reproduction to population structure in the clonal soft coral, *Alcyonium rudyi. Evolution* 51:112– 26

- 112. Marko PB. 1998. Historical allopatry and the biogeography of speciation in the prosobranch snail genus *Nucella*. *Evolution* 52:757–74
- 113. Hellberg ME. 1994. Relationships between inferred levels of gene flow and geographic distance in a philopatric coral, *Balanophyllia elegans*. *Evolution* 48:1829–54
- 114. Hellberg ME. 1998. Sympatric sea shells along the sea's shore: the geography of speciation in the marine gastropod *Tegula*. *Evolution* 52:1311–24
- Bohonak AJ. 1999. Dispersal, gene flow, and population structure. *Q. Rev. Biol.* 74: 21–45
- 116. Waples RS, Rosenblatt RH. 1987. Patterns of larval drift in Southern California USA marine shore fishes inferred from allozyme data. US Natl. Mar. Fish. Serv. Fish. Bull. 85:1–12
- 117. Bowen BW, Bass AL, Rocha LA, Grant WS, Robertson DR. 2001. Phylogeography of the trumpetfishes (*Aulostomus*): ring species complex on a global scale. *Evolution* 55:1029–39
- Hedgecock D. 1994. Temporal and spatial genetic-structure of marine animal populations in the California current. *Calif. Coop. Ocean. Fish. Investig. Rep.* 35:73– 81
- 119. Bowen BW, Clark AM, Abreugrobois FA, Chaves A, Reichart HA, Ferl RJ. 1997. Global phylogeography of the ridley sea turtles (*Lepidochelys* Spp.) as inferred from mitochondrial DNA sequences. *Genetica* 101:179–89
- 120. Bowen B, Kamezaki N, Limpus C, Hughes G, Meylan A, Avise J. 1994. Global phylogeography of the loggerhead turtle (*Caretta caretta*) as indicated by mitochondrial-DNA haplotypes. *Evolution* 48:1820–28
- 121. Bowen B, Meylan A, Avise J. 1991. Evolutionary distinctiveness of the endangered Kemps ridley sea-turtle. *Nature* 352:709–11
- 122. Bowen B, Abreugrobois F, Balazs G,

Kamezaki N, Limpus C, Ferl R. 1995. Trans-Pacific migrations of the loggerhead turtle (*Caretta caretta*) demonstrated with mitochondrial-DNA markers. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92:3731–34

- 123. Baker C, Perry A, Bannister J, Weinrich M, Abernethy R, et al. 1993. Abundant mitochondrial-DNA variation and worldwide population-structure in humpback whales. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:8239–43
- 124. Bucklin A, Wiebe PH, Smolenack SB, Copley NJ, Clarke ME. 2002. Integrated biochemical, molecular genetic, and bioacoustical analysis of mesoscale variability of the euphausiid *Nematoscelis difficilis* in the California current. *Deep-Sea Res. I* 49:437–62
- 125. Bucklin A, Astthorsson OS, Gislason A, Allen LD, Smolenack SB, Wiebe PH. 2000. Population genetic variation of *Calanus finmarchicus* in Icelandic waters: preliminary evidence of genetic differences between Atlantic and Arctic populations. *ICES J. Mar. Sci.* 57:1592–1604
- 126. de Vargas C, Norris R, Zaninetti L, Gibb SW, Pawlowski J. 1999. Molecular evidence of cryptic speciation in planktonic foraminifers and their relation to oceanic provinces. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 96: 2864–68
- 127. de Vargas C, Bonzon M, Rees NW, Pawlowski J, Zaninetti L. 2002. A molecular approach to biodiversity and biogeography in the planktonic foraminifer *Globigerinella siphonifera* (D'orbigny). *Mar. Micropaleontol.* 45:101–16
- 128. Darling KF, Wade CM, Stewart IA, Kroon D, Dingle R, Brown AJL. 2000. Molecular evidence for genetic mixing of Arctic and Antarctic subpolar populations of planktonic foraminifers. *Nature* 405:43– 47
- 129. Norris RD. 2000. Pelagic species diversity, biogeography, and evolution. *Paleobiology* 26:236–58
- Barber PH, Palumbi SR, Erdmann MV, Moosa MK. 2002. Sharp genetic breaks

among populations of *Haptosquilla pulchella* (Stomatopoda) indicate limits to larval transport: patterns, causes, and consequences. *Mol. Ecol.* 11:659–74

- Barber PH, Palumbi SR, Erdmann MV, Moosa MK. 2000. Biogeography—a marine Wallace's line? *Nature* 406:692–93
- Avise JC. 1994. Molecular Markers, Natural History and Evolution. New York: Chapman & Hall. 511 pp.
- 133. Williams ST, Jara J, Gomez E, Knowlton N. 2002. The marine Indo-West Pacific break: contrasting the resolving power of mitochondrial and nuclear genes. *Integr. Comp. Biol.* 42:941–52
- 134. Pannacciulli F, Bishop J, Sj H. 1997. Genetic structure of populations of two species of *Cthamalus* (Crustacea: *Cirripedia*) in the North-East Atlantic and Mediterranean. *Mar. Biol.* 128:73–82
- 135. Bucklin A, Frost BW, Bradford-Grieve J, Allen LD, Copley NJ. 2003. Molecular systematic and phylogenetic assessment of 34 calanoid copepod species of the *Calanidae* and *Clausocalanidae*. *Mar. Biol.* 142:333–43
- 136. Cowen RK, Lwiza KMM, Sponaugle S, Paris CB, Olson DB. 2000. Connectivity of marine populations: open or closed? *Science* 287:857–59
- Raymond M, Rousset F. 2004. *Genepop* on the Web. Montpellier, FR: Lab. Genet. Environ.
- 138. Excoffier L, Smouse P, Quattro J. 1992. Analysis of molecular variance inferred from metric distances among DNA haplotypes—application to human mitochondrial-DNA restriction data. *Genetics* 131:479–91
- Schneider S, Roessli D, Excoffier L. 2000. Arlequin: a software for population genetics data analysis. Ver 2. *Genet. Biometry Lab., Dep. Anthropol., Univ. Geneva*
- 140. Slatkin M, Barton H. 1989. A comparison of 3 indirect methods for estimating average levels of gene flow. *Evolution* 43:1349–68

- 141. Niegel JE. 1997. Population genetics and demography of marine species. In *Marine Biodiversity: Patterns and Processes*, ed. RFG Ormond, JD Gage, MU Angel, pp. 274–92. Cambridge: Cambridge Univ. Press
- 142. Slatkin M. 1987. Gene flow and the geographic structure of natural populations. *Science* 236:787–92
- 143. Rousset F. 1997. Genetic differentiation and estimation of gene flow from Fstatistics under isolation by distance. *Genetics* 145:1219–28
- Slatkin M. 1993. Isolation by distance in equilibrium and nonequilibrium populations. *Evolution* 47:264–79
- 145. Buonaccorsi VP, Kimbrell CA, Lynn EA, Vetter RD. 2002. Population structure of copper rockfish (*Sebastes caurinus*) reflects postglacial colonization and contemporary patterns of larval dispersal. *Can. J. Fish. Aqua. Sci.* 59:1374–84
- 146. Kinlan B, Gaines S. 2003. Propagule dispersal in marine and terrestrial environments: a community perspective. *Ecology* 84:2007–20
- 147. Shanks A, Grantham B, Carr M. 2003. Propagule dispersal distance and the size and spacing of marine reserves. *Ecol. Appl.* 13:S159–69
- 148. Kelly S, Scott D, MacDiarmid A, Babcock R. 2000. Spiny lobster, *Jasus edwardsii*, recovery in New Zealand marine reserves. *Biol. Conserv.* 92:359–69
- 149. Palumbi SR. 1994. Genetic divergence, reproductive isolation, and marine speciation. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 25:547– 72
- Reichow D, Smith MJ. 2001. Microsatellites reveal high levels of gene flow among populations of the California squid *Loligo* opalescens. Mol. Ecol. 10:1101–9
- 151. Flowers JM, Schroeter SC, Burton RS. 2002. The recruitment sweepstakes has many winners: genetic evidence from the sea urchin *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*. *Evolution* 56:1445–53

# **CONTENTS**

# I. EARTH'S LIFE SUPPORT SYSTEMS

Current Uncertainties in Assessing Aerosol Effects on Climate, Surabi Menon	1
Marine Reserves and Ocean Neighborhoods: The Spatial Scale of Marine Populations and Their Management, <i>Stephen R. Palumbi</i>	31
Elemental Cycles: A Status Report on Human or Natural Dominance, <i>R.J. Klee and T.E. Graedel</i>	69
II. HUMAN USE OF ENVIRONMENT AND RESOURCES	
Prospects for Carbon Capture and Storage Technologies, Soren Anderson and Richard Newell	109
Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture: Assessing Global Availability, <i>Cary Fowler and Toby Hodgkin</i>	143
Construction Materials and the Environment, Arpad Horvath	181
Contested Terrain: Mining and the Environment, Gavin Bridge	205
Grazing Systems, Ecosystem Responses, and Global Change, Gregory P. Asner, Andrew J. Elmore, Lydia P. Olander, Roberta E. Martin, and A. Thomas Harris	261
III. MANAGEMENT AND HUMAN DIMENSIONS	
Assessing the Costs of Electricity, Daniel M. Kammen and Sergio Pacca	301
Advances in Energy Forecasting Models Based on Engineering Economics, Ernst Worrell, Stephan Ramesohl, and Gale Boyd	345
Energy Management and Global Health, <i>Majid Ezzati, Robert Bailis,</i> Daniel M. Kammen, Tracey Holloway, Lynn Price, Luis A. Cifuentes, Burndon Barnes, Abarbaba Champ, and Kingn N. Dhamanda	202
Brenaon Barnes, Akanksna Chaurey, and Kiran N. Dhanapala	383
Energy Intrastructure and Security, Alexander E. Farrell, Hisham Zerriffi, and Hadi Dowlatabadi	421
Indexes	
Subject Index	471

Subject Index	4/1
Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 20–29	493
Cumulative Index of Chapter Titles, Volumes 20-29	497

# Errata

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Environment and Resources* chapters may be found at http://environ.annualreviews.org